

## MARIN TRANSIT

## **PROCUREMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES**

Policy #:	PU-02
Subject:	Procurement
Effective Date:	April 30, 2012
1 <sup>st</sup> Revision Date:	May 7, 2018
2 <sup>nd</sup> Revision Date	October 5, 2020
3 <sup>rd</sup> Revision Date	September 13, 2021
4 <sup>th</sup> Revision Date	November 7, 2022
5 <sup>th</sup> Revision Date	March 22, 2023

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.1.Governance	L.
1.2.Contracts Outside the Scope of This Policy1	
1.2.1. Real Property1	
1.2.2. Other Acquisitions	
1.2.3. Revenue Contracts	
1.2.4. Employment Contracts	
2. CONTRACTING AUTHORITY AND CONTRACT APPROVAL	
2.1.Contract Approval Requirements	)
2.1.1. Purchasing Thresholds	
2.1.2. Board of Marin Transit Approval	)
2.1.3. General Manager Approval2	)
2.1.4. Director Approvals	
2.1.5. Delegations	
2.1.6. Change orders	
2.1.7. Emergencies	
3. GENERAL PROCUREMENT STANDARDS	
3.1.Standards of Conduct	3
3.2.Economic Purchasing4	
3.3.Specifications	
3.4 Procurement Process and Oversight Responsibilities	
3.5 Joint Procurement	
3.6 Record Keeping	
3.7 Use of Existing Contracts	
3.7.1 GSA, State of California, and Local Government Purchasing Schedules6	
3.7.2 Acquisition Through Assigned Contract Rights "Piggybacking"7	
3.7.3 Options	
3.7.4 Impermissible Contract Actions	
3.7.4.1 Improper Contract Expansion	
3.7.4.2 Cardinal Change	
3.8 Protests	
3.9 Contract Period	
4. FULL AND OPEN COMPETITION	
4.1.Competition 9	
4.2.Restrictions on Competition	)
4.3.Geographic Preferences	)
4.4 Record of Procurement Transactions	)
5. CONTRACT TYPES 11	
5.1.Typical Contract Types	
5.1.1. Firm Fixed Price	
5.1.2. Cost Reimbursement and Cost plus Fixed Fee	
5.2.FTA Prohibited or Restricted Contract Types	
5.2.1. Cost Plus a Percentage of Cost – Prohibited	
5.2.2. Percentage of Construction Cost - Prohibited	

5.2.3. Time and Materials – Restricted	.11
6. METHODS OF PROCUREMENT	.12
6.1.Micro-purchases	.12
6.2.Small Purchases	.12
6.3 Purchase by Sealed Bids (formal advertising)	.13
6,4 Competitive Solicitations (IFB and RFP)	.15
6.4.1 General Standards for Either IFB or RFP	
6.4.2 Advertising	.15
6.4.3 Pre-Qualification	.15
6.4.4 Selection Procedures	.16
6.4.5 Amendments	.16
6.4.6 Invitation for Bid (IFB)	.16
6.4.7 When to use IFB	.16
6.4.8 IFB Procedures	.17
6.4.9 Single Bid	.18
6.4.10 Request for Proposal (RFP)	.18
6.4.11 When to use RFP	
6.4.11.1 Contract Type for RFP	.18
6.4.11.2 Evaluation Factors	.18
6.4.13 Revised Proposals	.19
6.4.14 Best and Final Offer	.19
6.4.15 Special Procurement Considerations	.19
6.4.15.1 Two-Step Procurement Procedures	.19
6.4.15.2 Architectural and Engineering (A&E) and Other Professional Service	s
20	
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build	.21
20	.21
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build	.21 .21
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build 6.4.16 Sole Source	.21 .21 .21
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build 6.4.16 Sole Source 6.4.16.1 Justification for Sole Source	.21 .21 .21 .23
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build 6.4.16 Sole Source 6.4.16.1 Justification for Sole Source 6.4.16.2 Documentation	.21 .21 .21 .23 .23
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build 6.4.16 Sole Source 6.4.16.1 Justification for Sole Source 6.4.16.2 Documentation 6.4.17 Options	.21 .21 .21 .23 .23 .24
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build 6.4.16 Sole Source 6.4.16.1 Justification for Sole Source 6.4.16.2 Documentation 6.4.17 Options 6.4.18 Electronic Commerce 7 CONTRACT COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS	.21 .21 .23 .23 .24 .25
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build 6.4.16 Sole Source 6.4.16.1 Justification for Sole Source 6.4.16.2 Documentation 6.4.17 Options 6.4.18 Electronic Commerce	.21 .21 .23 .23 .23 .24 .25 .25
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build 6.4.16 Sole Source 6.4.16.1 Justification for Sole Source 6.4.16.2 Documentation 6.4.17 Options 6.4.18 Electronic Commerce 7 CONTRACT COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS 7.1 Requirement 7.2 Independent Cost Estimate 7.3 Cost Analysis	.21 .21 .23 .23 .23 .25 .25 .25
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build 6.4.16 Sole Source 6.4.16.1 Justification for Sole Source 6.4.16.2 Documentation 6.4.17 Options 6.4.18 Electronic Commerce 7 CONTRACT COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS 7.1 Requirement 7.2 Independent Cost Estimate	.21 .21 .23 .23 .23 .25 .25 .25
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build 6.4.16 Sole Source 6.4.16.1 Justification for Sole Source 6.4.16.2 Documentation 6.4.17 Options 6.4.18 Electronic Commerce 7 CONTRACT COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS 7.1 Requirement 7.2 Independent Cost Estimate 7.3 Cost Analysis	.21 .21 .23 .23 .23 .24 .25 .25 .25 .25 .25
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build 6.4.16 Sole Source 6.4.16 Justification for Sole Source 6.4.16.2 Documentation 6.4.17 Options 6.4.18 Electronic Commerce 7 CONTRACT COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS 7.1 Requirement 7.2 Independent Cost Estimate 7.3 Cost Analysis 8 CONTRACT PROVISIONS 8.1 Federal Contract Provisions	.21 .21 .23 .23 .24 .25 .25 .25 .25 .26 .26
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build 6.4.16 Sole Source 6.4.16.1 Justification for Sole Source 6.4.16.2 Documentation 6.4.17 Options 6.4.18 Electronic Commerce 7 CONTRACT COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS 7.1 Requirement 7.2 Independent Cost Estimate 7.3 Cost Analysis 8 CONTRACT PROVISIONS 8.1 Federal Contract Provisions 8.2 Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) 8.3 Liquidated Damages	.21 .21 .23 .23 .23 .25 .25 .25 .25 .26 .26 .27 .27
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build 6.4.16 Sole Source 6.4.16.1 Justification for Sole Source 6.4.16.2 Documentation 6.4.17 Options 6.4.18 Electronic Commerce 7 CONTRACT COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS 7.1 Requirement 7.2 Independent Cost Estimate 7.3 Cost Analysis 8 CONTRACT PROVISIONS 8.1 Federal Contract Provisions 8.2 Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE)	.21 .21 .23 .23 .23 .25 .25 .25 .25 .26 .26 .27 .27
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build 6.4.16 Sole Source 6.4.16.1 Justification for Sole Source 6.4.16.2 Documentation 6.4.17 Options 6.4.18 Electronic Commerce 7 CONTRACT COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS 7.1 Requirement 7.2 Independent Cost Estimate 7.3 Cost Analysis 8 CONTRACT PROVISIONS 8.1 Federal Contract Provisions 8.2 Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) 8.3 Liquidated Damages	.21 .21 .23 .23 .23 .25 .25 .25 .25 .26 .27 .27 .27
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build 6.4.16 Sole Source 6.4.16 Justification for Sole Source 6.4.16.1 Justification for Sole Source 6.4.16.2 Documentation 6.4.17 Options 6.4.18 Electronic Commerce. 7 CONTRACT COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS 7.1 Requirement 7.2 Independent Cost Estimate 7.3 Cost Analysis 8 CONTRACT PROVISIONS 8.1 Federal Contract Provisions. 8.2 Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) 8.3 Liquidated Damages 8.4 Bonding Requirements	.21 .21 .23 .23 .24 .25 .25 .25 .25 .26 .27 .27 .27 .27
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build. 6.4.16 Sole Source 6.4.16 Justification for Sole Source 6.4.16.2 Documentation. 6.4.17 Options 6.4.18 Electronic Commerce 7 CONTRACT COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS 7.1 Requirement 7.2 Independent Cost Estimate. 7.3 Cost Analysis 8 CONTRACT PROVISIONS 8.1 Federal Contract Provisions. 8.2 Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) 8.3 Liquidated Damages. 8.4 Bonding Requirements 8.4.1 Construction 8.4.2 Non-Construction.	.21 .21 .23 .23 .24 .25 .25 .25 .26 .27 .27 .27 .27 .27
20 6.4.15.3 Design Build 6.4.16 Sole Source 6.4.16 Justification for Sole Source 6.4.16.2 Documentation 6.4.17 Options 6.4.18 Electronic Commerce 7 CONTRACT COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS 7.1 Requirement 7.2 Independent Cost Estimate 7.3 Cost Analysis 8 CONTRACT PROVISIONS 8.1 Federal Contract Provisions. 8.2 Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) 8.3 Liquidated Damages 8.4 Bonding Requirements 8.4.1 Construction	.21 .21 .23 .23 .25 .25 .25 .25 .26 .27 .27 .27 .27 .28 .28
20         6.4.15.3 Design Build.         6.4.16 Sole Source         6.4.16 Sole Source         6.4.16.1 Justification for Sole Source         6.4.16.2 Documentation         6.4.16.2 Documentation         6.4.17 Options         6.4.18 Electronic Commerce.         7 CONTRACT COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS         7.1 Requirement         7.2 Independent Cost Estimate.         7.3 Cost Analysis         8 CONTRACT PROVISIONS         8.1 Federal Contract Provisions.         8.2 Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE)         8.3 Liquidated Damages         8.4 Bonding Requirements         8.4.1 Construction         8.4.2 Non-Construction         8.4.3 Alternate Method of Security	.21 .21 .23 .23 .25 .25 .25 .25 .26 .27 .27 .27 .27 .27 .28 .28

8.8 Payment Provisions	.29	
8.8.1 Advance Payments	.29	
8.8.2 Progress Payments		
9 RECEIPT AND EVALUATION OF BIDS AND PROPOSALS	.29	
9.1 Sealed Bids	.29	
9.2 Competitive Proposals	.30	
9.3 Responsiveness Review		
9.4 Responsibility Review		
9.5 Evaluations		
9.5.1 General	.31	
9.5.2 Options	.31	
9.5.3 Evaluators	.31	
10 CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION	.32	
10.1Contract Administration	.32	
10.2File Contents	.32	
11 CHANGE ORDERS	.33	
11.1 Definition	.33	
11.2 Submittal	.33	
11.3 Evaluation	.33	
11.4 Documentation 34		
12 CONTRACT CLOSEOUT	.34	
APPENDIX A - Applicability of Federal Contract Provisions	.30	
APPENDIX B - Federal Certifications Reports and Forms		

## 1. APPLICABILITY

This document sets forth Marin Transit's requirements for solicitation, award, and administration of its procurement actions. The purpose of these policies and procedures is to ensure competitive procurements and conform to applicable Federal, State, and local law.

These policies and procedures apply to all Marin Transit contracts and purchases regardless of funding sources, except as specifically stated.

## 1.1. Governance

Marin Transit's procurement actions are primarily governed by the California Government Code Section 54201-54205 and by the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Circular 4220.1F (C 4220.1F) and Super Circular, 2 CFR part 200. Additionally, as required under California Public Contract Code Division 2, of Part 3, of Chapter 1, of Article 12, Marin Transit shall purchase all supplies, equipment and materials, and construction of facilities and works, in the same manner, procedure and subject to the same limitations applicable to the County of Marin.

In all procurements using any amount of Federal funds, Federal requirements shall generally supersede State law. Where no Federal funds are involved, procurement actions shall be governed by applicable State law. References to statutes or regulations in this document shall be deemed to refer to any subsequent revisions or amendments which may be enacted from time to time.

## 1.2. Contracts Outside the Scope of This Policy

## 1.2.1. Real Property

Procurements of real property consisting of land and any existing buildings and structures on that land are beyond the scope of this policy. However, this policy does apply to construction of buildings, structures, or appurtenances that were not on land when that land was acquired. This policy also applies to any alterations or repairs to building or structures existing on that land when that land was acquired, to transactions in support of real property acquisition such as real estate consultants, and to leases.

## 1.2.2. Other Acquisitions

This policy shall not apply to: joint development projects (except construction); purchases from government-regulated entities such as public utilities that are granted market exclusivity by the regulating agency; purchases of professional subscriptions, memberships, seminars, and expenses in connection with industry meetings and conferences; travel

and living expenses on Marin Transit business; and other similar expenditures incidental to the routine conduct of Marin Transit's business.

## 1.2.3. <u>Revenue Contracts</u>

Revenue contracts are not subject to this policy. A revenue contract is one in which Marin Transit provides access to public transportation assets for the primary purpose of either producing revenues in connection with a public transportation-related activity or creating business opportunities involving the use of Marin Transit property. Where feasible, a competitive process suitable to the type and scope of the activity involved and the availability of competition shall be conducted, for example where there are several potential competitors for a limited opportunity (such as advertising space associated with Marin Transit assets). Where the nature of an opportunity allows reasonably unlimited access for all competitors, the opportunity shall be made available to all such parties without restriction.

## 1.2.4. Employment Contracts

Employment contracts are not subject to this policy, as they involve individuals becoming employees of Marin Transit.

## 2. CONTRACTING AUTHORITY AND CONTRACT APPROVAL

## 2.1. Contract Approval Requirements

## 2.1.1. Purchasing Thresholds

Micro-purchases are purchases of \$25,000 or less if no Federal funds are involved and \$10,000 or less if Federal funding is present.

Small purchases are purchases valued at more than the micro-purchase limit but less than the Federal Transit Administration small purchase threshold, currently \$150,000.

## 2.1.2. Board of Marin Transit Approval

All contracts for goods or services in excess of \$50,000 must be awarded by approval of the Board of Marin Transit.

## 2.1.3. General Manager Approval

All contracts valued at less than \$50,000 but over \$10,000 shall be approved by the General Manager in writing.

## 2.1.4. Director Approval

Purchases under \$10,000 may be approved by the Director level positions.

## 2.1.5. Delegations

The authorizations specified above may be delegated in whole or in part, by written direction of the holder of the authority.

## 2.1.6. Change orders

The above authorizations apply to both new procurements and to change orders.

## 2.1.7. Emergencies

The General Manager may authorize the award of contracts or change orders exceeding Marin Transit's threshold for approval in the following cases:

- When emergency action is required to prevent loss of life, damage to property, a threat to public safety or the environment, or the disruption of transit service or other essential functions of Marin Transit.
- Where an emergency has been declared by local, State or national officials affecting Marin Transit's service area, directly or indirectly, or a request for waiver of regulatory requirements has been entered on FTA's Emergency Docket.

All emergency procurements must be documented in writing.

## 3. GENERAL PROCUREMENT STANDARDS

## 3.1. Standards of Conduct

The Marin Transit Board of Directors has adopted a separate written code of conduct that conforms to FTA Circular 4220.1F. This sets forth the required standards of conduct relating to all procurement activities. The standards of conduct cover conflicts of interest and govern the actions of employees engaged in the selection, award, or administration of contracts.

No employee, officer, or agent may participate in the selection, award, or administration of a contract supported by a Federal award if he or she has a real or apparent conflict of interest. Such a conflict of interest would arise when the employee, officer, or agent, any member of his or her immediate family, his or her partner, or an organization that employs or is about to employ any of the parties indicated herein, has a financial or other interest in or a tangible personal benefit from a firm considered for a contract. The officers, employees, and agents of Marin Transit may neither solicit nor accept gratuities, favors, or anything of monetary value from contractors or parties to subcontracts. However, non-Federal entities may set standards for situations in which the financial interest is not substantial or the gift is an unsolicited item of nominal value. The standards of conduct provides for disciplinary actions to be applied for violations of such standards by officers, employees, or agents of Marin Transit.

In addition, under the California Political Reform Act, all public agencies are required to adopt a conflict of interest code that designates positions required to file Statements of Economic Interests (Form 700).

#### 3.2. Economic Purchasing

Marin Transit shall avoid acquisition of unnecessary or duplicative items. From time to time, Marin Transit shall review procurement activity to determine if certain classes of purchases should be consolidated or broken out to obtain more economical pricing. Where appropriate, analysis shall also be made of lease versus purchase alternatives or any other appropriate methodology to determine the most economical approach. Marin Transit shall enter into state and local intergovernmental agreements or inter-entity agreements where appropriate for procurement or use of common or shared goods and services.

The District shall use Federal excess and surplus property in lieu of purchasing new equipment and property whenever such use is feasible and reduces project costs. Marin Transit shall use value engineering clauses in contracts for construction projects of sufficient size to offer reasonable opportunities for cost reductions. Value engineering is a systematic and creative analysis of each contract item or task to ensure that its essential function is provided at the overall lower cost.

## 3.3. Specifications

All solicitations shall have a clear and accurate description of the technical requirements for the material, product, or service to be procured. These descriptions shall not, in competitive procurements, contain features that unduly restrict competition. The description may include a statement of the qualitative nature of the material, product, or service to be procured and, when necessary, describe minimum essential characteristics and standards to which the product or services must perform. Whenever practical, requirements shall be described in terms of functions to be performed or level of performance required, including the range of acceptable characteristics or minimum acceptable standards. Detailed product specifications are to be avoided if at all possible. When it is impractical or uneconomical to write a clear and accurate description of the technical requirements, a "brand name or equal" description may be used as a means to define the performance;

however, when this method is used, the specification must set forth the salient characteristics that the product must meet, and vendors shall be allowed to offer "equal" products meeting the salient characteristics. Specifications for bid solicitations, whether by small purchase or formal procurement, shall be sufficiently detailed to ensure that bidders may submit pricing on like products. Specifications or scopes of services for negotiated procurements may be more general and accommodate the possibility of alternative solutions or products.

#### 3.4 Procurement Process and Oversight Responsibilities

Marin Transit shall award contracts only to responsible contractors possessing the ability to perform successfully under the terms and conditions of a proposed procurement. Consideration will be given to such matters as contractor integrity, compliance with public policy, record of past performance, and financial and technical resources.

(i) Marin Transit shall maintain records sufficient to detail the history of procurement. These records will include but are not necessarily limited to the following: rationale for the method of procurement, selection of contract type, contractor selection or rejection, and the basis for the contract price.

(j) (1) Marin Transit may use a time and materials type contract only after a determination that no other contract is suitable and if the contract includes a ceiling price that the contractor exceeds at its own risk. Time and materials type contract means a contract whose cost to Marin Transit is the sum of:

(i) The actual cost of materials; and

(ii) Direct labor hours charged at fixed hourly rates that reflect wages, general and administrative expenses, and profit.

(2) Since this formula generates an open-ended contract price, a time-andmaterials contract provides no positive profit incentive to the contractor for cost control or labor efficiency. Therefore, each contract will set a ceiling price that the contractor exceeds at its own risk. Further, Marin Transit will assert a high degree of oversight of the contract to obtain reasonable assurance that the contractor is using efficient methods and effective cost controls.

(k) In accordance with good administrative practice and sound business judgment, Marin Transit shall be entirely responsible for the settlement of all contractual and administrative issues arising out of procurements. These issues include, but are not limited to: source evaluation, protests, disputes, and claims. These standards do not relieve Marin Transit of any contractual responsibilities under its contracts. The Federal awarding agency will not substitute its judgment for Marin Transit's unless the matter is primarily a

Federal concern. Violations of law will be referred to the local, state, or Federal authority having proper jurisdiction.

## 3.5 Joint Procurement

When appropriate, Marin Transit shall consider combining or "pooling" their procurements to obtain better pricing. In general, joint procurements are often more desirable than procurements through assignment (see 3.6.2 below) because an assignment does not represent the combined buying power of more than one purchaser at the time when prices are established. A joint procurement may also offer the advantage of permitting Marin Transit to acquire property and services more closely responsive to the District's material requirements than would be available through assignment of existing contract rights.

## 3.6 Record Keeping

Marin Transit shall maintain records detailing the history of a procurement in a manner consistent with the size, complexity and cost of the contract. Federal regulations require these records to be maintained for three years after Marin Transit has made final payment and all other pending matters are closed. At a minimum, the procurement history must include the following information:

- Rationale for the method of procurement (i.e. IFB, RFP, sole source.)
- Sole source justification for any purchase that is not competitive
- Selection of contract type (i.e. fixed price, cost reimbursement)
- Reasons for contractor selection or rejection
- Written responsibility determination for the successful contractor
- Basis for contract price (i.e. cost/price analysis)

## 3.7 Use of Existing Contracts

# <u>3.7.1 GSA, State of California, and Local Government Purchasing</u>

Both the U.S. General Services Administration (GSA) and the California Department of Governmental Services maintain purchasing schedules or purchasing contracts for various commodities and services. Marin Transit may use contracts of this type in accordance with the governing law and regulations of the agency establishing them.

Marin Transit may also use other state or local government purchasing schedules. In this instance a state or local government has made an

arrangement with several vendors in which those vendors agree to provide essentially an option to the state or local government, and its subordinate government entities, to acquire specific property or services in the future at established prices. The state or local government then, with the agreement of the vendor, provides the listed property or services to others. The CalACT/MBTA Vehicle Purchasing Cooperative would be an example of this procurement method.

## 3.72 Acquisition Through Assigned Contract Rights "Piggybacking"

Marin Transit may use contract rights assigned from another agency when that agency finds that it has inadvertently acquired contract rights in excess of its needs (sometimes referred to as "piggybacking"). A number of FTA requirements must be met before such a contract may be used. FTA requires that the existing contract contain an assignability clause and all required FTA contract clauses and certifications; these clauses cannot be added by Marin Transit as part of its use of the existing contract. All quantities acquired by assigned contract rights must be within the original contract quantities (including options) and acquired within the term of the existing contract. Marin Transit must determine that the agency with the contract complied with all FTA requirements relating to competition and performance of a cost or price analysis. Marin Transit must also perform its own cost or price analysis to determine that the prices it shall pay are fair and reasonable. Marin Transit staff shall ensure all appropriate documentation from the original awarding agency is retained in the procurement file for that acquisition.

## 3.7.3 Options

Marin Transit may include options in its contracts to ensure the future availability of property or services. An option is a unilateral right such that for a specified time the District may acquire more equipment, supplies, or services than originally procured. An option may also extend the term of the contract.

## 3.7.4 Impermissible Contract Actions

The following contract actions are not permitted on projects funded with Federal assistance.

## 3.7.4.1 Improper Contract Expansion

A contract shall not be expanded when it includes a larger scope, greater quantities, or options beyond the original reasonably anticipated needs. A contract shall not be expanded when excess capacity has been added primarily to permit assignment of those contract rights to another entity.

## 3.7.4.2 Cardinal Change

A significant change in contract work (property or services) that causes a major deviation from the original purpose of the work or the intended method of achievement, or causes a revision of contract work so extensive, significant, or cumulative that, in effect, the contractor is required to perform very different work from that described in the original contract, is a cardinal change. Such practices are sometimes informally referred to as "tag-ons". A change within the scope of the contract (sometimes referred to as "in-scope" change) is not a "tag-on" or cardinal change.

Recognizing a cardinal change to a contract can be difficult. FTA has not developed a finite list of acceptable contract changes. Tests to determine if a change is a cardinal change involve the nature and extent of the work to be performed, the amount of effort involved, whether the change was originally contemplated at the time the original contract was entered into, or the cumulative impact on the contract's quantity, quality, costs and delivery terms.

In the case of rolling stock, a major change in quantity or a substitution of major end items not contemplated when competition for the original award took place would generally be a cardinal change. Additional guidance on cardinal changes can be found on page V-7 and V-8 of the FTA Circular 4220.1F and in the FTA Best Practices Procurement Manual, section 9.2.1- Contract Scope and Cardinal Changes.

## 3.8 Protests

Marin Transit has adopted a bid protest policy to provide remedy for supplier protests that cannot be informally resolved.

## 3.9 Contract Period

The period of contract performance for rolling stock and replacement parts cannot exceed five years, inclusive of options, as defined in FTA Circular 4220.1F. The length of all other contracts shall be based upon sound business judgment, including consideration of issues such as the nature of the item being purchased, the need to afford the contractor a reasonable opportunity to recapture any start-up costs, the need to afford competing vendors the opportunity to do business with Marin Transit, and the relative benefit to Marin Transit of a longer or shorter contract term. All contracts must specify a contract period of performance, either in the form of delivery schedules for contract deliverables such as commodities, or a specific end date for service contracts.

## 4. FULL AND OPEN COMPETITION

## 4.1. Competition

All procurement transactions shall be conducted in a manner intended to maximize full and open competition. Full and open competition means that all responsible sources are permitted to compete. In implementing this standard, staff members are expected to be aggressive in identifying potential vendors for each procurement. At a minimum, each procurement expected to cost above \$150,000 (the FTA small purchase threshold) shall be posted on Marin Transit website's procurement page for downloading, and known vendors shall be directly informed of the project and encouraged to respond to the solicitation. In addition, each competitive procurement above the small purchase threshold may be advertised in local, and, as appropriate, regional, national and trade publications. The advertisement and notice should provide the solicitation title, the date of any pre-bid or pre-proposal conference, and the date and time for receipt of responses to the solicitation. Advertisements and notices shall be issued at the beginning of the solicitation period or as soon after as practical to accommodate the advertising schedules of publications. For procurements within the small purchase threshold formal advertising is not required but may be used if appropriate.

## 4.2. Restrictions on Competition

All procurement transactions over \$3,500 shall be conducted in a manner providing full and open competition, without providing an unfair competitive advantage to any potential vendor. Some of the situations considered to be restrictive of competition include, but are not limited to:

- Unreasonable requirements placed on firms in order for them to qualify to do business.
- Unnecessary or excessive experience, excessive bonding, insurance, warranty or similar requirements which affect an otherwise qualified firm's ability to compete. Such requirements must also, however, be established in a manner consistent with protection of Marin Transit's interests.
- Noncompetitive pricing practices between firms or between affiliated companies.
- Noncompetitive awards to any person or firm on retainer contracts.
- Organizational conflicts of interest.
- Specifying only a "brand name" product, without specifying that equivalent products shall be accepted and providing salient characteristics or other descriptive information sufficient to allow bidders to identify and propose such equivalent products.

- The use of specification requirements and evaluation criteria that unnecessarily favor an incumbent contractor.
- Any arbitrary action in the procurement process.

## 4.3. Geographic Preferences

This section is applicable only to FTA-funded procurements.

Procurement transactions shall be conducted in a manner that prohibits the use of statutory or administratively imposed state, local, or tribal geographical preferences in the solicitation and evaluation of bids or proposals, except in those cases where applicable Federal statutes or regulations expressly mandate or permit geographic preference. This does not preempt State or local licensing laws. However, geographic location may be a selection criterion in procurements for architectural and engineering (A&E) services, provided its application leaves an appropriate number of qualified firms, given the nature and size of the project, to compete for the contract.

## 4.4 Record of Procurement Transactions

Marin Transit shall use written procedures for procurement transactions. These procedures ensure that all solicitations:

- Incorporate a clear and accurate description of the technical requirements for the material, product, or service to be procured. Such description shall not, in competitive procurements, contain features that unduly restrict competition. The description may include a statement of the qualitative nature of the material, product or service to be procured and, when necessary, must set forth those minimum essential characteristics and standards to which it must conform if it is to satisfy its intended use. Detailed product specifications shall be avoided if at all possible. When it is impractical or uneconomical to make a clear and accurate description of the technical requirements, a "brand name or equivalent" description shall be used to define the performance or other salient requirements of procurement. The specific features of the named brand that must be met by offers shall be clearly stated; and
- Identify all requirements that the offerors must fulfill and all other factors to be used in evaluating bids or proposals.

Marin Transit shall ensure that all prequalified lists of persons, firms, or products that are used in acquiring goods and services are current and include enough qualified sources to ensure maximum open and free competition. Also, Marin Transit will not preclude potential bidders from qualifying during the solicitation period.

#### 4.5 Metric Measurements

Marin Transit will accept property and services with dimensions expressed in metric measurements, to the extent practicable and feasible.

## 5. CONTRACT TYPES

## 5.1. Typical Contract Types

## 5.1.1. Firm Fixed Price

A firm fixed price contract includes a price that remains fixed irrespective of the contractor's cost experience in performing the contract. A firm fixed price contract may include an economic price adjustment provision, incentives, or both.

#### 5.1.2. Cost Reimbursement and Cost plus Fixed Fee

A cost plus fixed fee contract provides that the contractor shall be reimbursed for its labor and material costs and for its direct expenses, plus a fixed fee for profit that is paid regardless of any overrun or under-run of the total costs established at time of contract award. The intent is to provide the contractor with an incentive to work as efficiently as possible in order that the fee shall represent a higher percentage of its costs. This type of contract may also provide for other types of fee as incentives for improved performance.

## 5.2. FTA Prohibited or Restricted Contract Types

## 5.2.1. Cost Plus a Percentage of Cost – Prohibited

Contracts that are structured with payment provisions based on the incurrence and payment of actual costs, such as direct labor, with a fixed percent mark-up on the actual costs incurred for (a) profit, (b) indirect costs, (c) or both, are prohibited by Federal statute.

## 5.2.2. Percentage of Construction Cost - Prohibited

## 5.2.3. Time and Materials - Restricted

A time and material contract or change order is one in which a clear scope cannot be defined, due to unknown conditions or circumstances affecting the work. Typically, this shall involve an emergency situation. Since such contracts provide no incentive for the contractor to work efficiently or in a cost-effective manner, FTA restricts their use to situations in which no other type of contract is feasible. Such contracts shall specify a ceiling price (a limitation of funding) that the contractor shall not exceed except at its own risk. The contractor's accounting system must be verified to ensure that it is adequate to properly segregate and bill costs and thorough oversight is required to verify the amount of work performed and materials used. Every effort shall be made to limit the scope of a time and materials contract or change order until another type of contract or change order can be established.

## 6. METHODS OF PROCUREMENT

## 6.1. Micro-purchases

Micro-purchases are purchases of \$10,000 or less if Federal funds are involved, or \$25,000 for projects entirely funded without Federal funds. Micropurchases can be made without obtaining competitive quotations. These purchases are exempt from FTA's Buy America requirements. Davis–Bacon prevailing wage requirements, however, shall apply to Federal construction contracts exceeding \$2,000. Micro-purchases shall be distributed equitably among qualified suppliers. Purchases shall not be divided or reduced in size merely to come within the micro-purchase limit.

The only documentation requirement for micro-purchases is a determination that the price is fair and reasonable and a description of how this determination was made. The documentation shall state that: "The price(s) paid for items are determined to be fair and reasonable, based on the following:"

- Adequate competition (two or more quotes received with an award made to lowest)
- Current price lists or off-the-shelf pricing
- Catalog price
- Prices found reasonable on recent previous purchases
- Advertisements
- Similar items in a related industry
- Independent price estimate (attach documentation)
- Other (cite basis)

## 6.2. Small Purchases

Small purchases are relatively simple and informal solicitations for services, supplies, or other property valued at more than the micro-purchase limit but less than the FTA small purchase threshold, currently \$150,000. These purchases are exempt from FTA's Buy America requirements.

The following procedures apply to small purchases:

- Price or rate quotes must be obtained from an adequate number of qualified sources.
- Purchases shall not be divided or reduced in size merely to come within the small purchase limit.
- The request for quotes and the actual quoted prices must be documented in the procurement file.

## 6.3 Purchase by Sealed Bids (formal advertising).

a) Bids are publicly solicited and a firm fixed price contract (lump sum or unit price) is awarded to the responsible bidder whose bid, conforming with all the material terms and conditions of the invitation for bids, is the lowest in price. The sealed bid method is the preferred method for procuring construction, if the conditions in paragraph (c)(1) of this section apply.

b) For sealed bidding to be feasible, the following conditions should be present:

(i) A complete, adequate, and realistic specification or purchase description is available;

(ii) Two or more responsible bidders are willing and able to compete effectively for the business; and

(iii) The procurement lends itself to a firm fixed price contract and the selection of the successful bidder can be made principally on the basis of price.

c) If sealed bids are used, the following requirements apply:

(i) Bids shall be solicited from an adequate number of known suppliers, providing them sufficient response time prior to the date set for opening the bids, for local, and tribal governments, the invitation for bids must be publicly advertised;

(ii) The invitation for bids, which will include any specifications and pertinent attachments, shall define the items or services in order for the bidder to properly respond;

(iii) All bids will be opened at the time and place prescribed in the invitation for bids, and for local and tribal governments, the bids shall be opened publicly; (iv) A firm fixed price contract award will be made in writing to the lowest responsive and responsible bidder. Where specified in bidding documents, factors such as discounts, transportation cost, and life cycle costs must be considered in determining which bid is lowest. Payment discounts will only be used to determine the low bid when prior experience indicates that such discounts are usually taken advantage of; and

(v) Any or all bids may be rejected if there is a sound documented reason.

(d) Procurement by competitive proposals. The technique of competitive proposals is normally conducted with more than one source submitting an offer, and either a fixed price or cost-reimbursement type contract is awarded. It is generally used when conditions are not appropriate for the use of sealed bids. If this method is used, the following requirements apply:

(1) Requests for proposals shall be publicized and identify all evaluation factors and their relative importance. Any response to publicized requests for proposals must be considered to the maximum extent practical;

(2) Proposals shall be solicited from an adequate number of qualified sources;

(3) Marin Transit shall have a written method for conducting technical evaluations of the proposals received and for selecting recipients;

(4) Contracts shall be awarded to the responsible firm whose proposal is most advantageous to the program, with price and other factors considered; and

(5) Marin Transit may use competitive proposal procedures for qualifications-based procurement of architectural/engineering (A/E) professional services whereby competitors' qualifications are evaluated and the most qualified competitor is selected, subject to negotiation of fair and reasonable compensation. The method, where price is not used as a selection factor, can only be used in procurement of A/E professional services. It cannot be used to purchase other types of services though A/E firms are a potential source to perform the proposed effort.

(e) Procurement by noncompetitive proposals. Procurement by noncompetitive proposals is procurement through solicitation of a proposal from only one source and may be used only when one or more of the following circumstances apply:

(1) The item is available only from a single source;

(2) The public exigency or emergency for the requirement will not permit a delay resulting from competitive solicitation;

(3) The Federal awarding agency or pass-through entity expressly authorizes noncompetitive proposals in response to a written request from Marin Transit; or

(4) After solicitation of a number of sources, competition is determined inadequate.

## 6.4 Competitive Solicitations (IFB and RFP)

## 6.4.1 General Standards for Either IFB or RFP

## 6.4.2 Advertising

The intent of advertising a solicitation is to make every reasonable effort to inform potential vendors of the business opportunity. Each such solicitation shall be posted on the procurement page of Marin Transit's website. If deemed appropriate the solicitation shall be published in appropriate local, regional, national, and trade media designed to reach the target vendor pool or posted on applicable trade association or other websites.

## 6.4.3 Pre-Qualification

Pre-qualification or other methods of restricting responses shall not ordinarily be used unless required for security or public safety reasons or by law. If vendors are to be pre-qualified for a specific procurement, the following requirements apply:

- The qualifications standards must be limited to those essential for the procurement.
- Any pre-qualification list used is current.
- The prequalification process must include enough qualified sources to provide maximum full and open competition.
- Potential bidders or offerors must be permitted to qualify during the solicitation period (from the issuance of the solicitation to its closing date). However, a particular solicitation need not be held open to accommodate a potential supplier that applies for approval before or during that solicitation, nor must prequalification evaluations of bidders, offerors, or property presented for review during the solicitation period be expedited or shortened to conform to the solicitation period.

Any prequalification testing, or testing of potential approved equal products, must take into account (1) the frequency of solicitations for an item; if an item is solicited on a regular basis, the testing may allow the provider to participate in future solicitations; if the solicitation is unique or rare, more consideration should be given to allowing completion of the testing process for that procurement; (2) the length of time required to reasonably test the item to verify acceptability; and (3) the cost to Marin Transit of conducting a testing process.

## 6.4.4 Selection Procedures

Marin Transit shall have written selection procedures that ensure fair, unbiased evaluation of competing offers for all types of competitive procurement transactions.

If Marin Transit intends to reserve its right to award to other than the low bidder or offeror, this information shall be stated in the solicitation document.

If Marin Transit intends to reserve its right to reject all bids or offers, this information shall be stated in the solicitation document.

#### 6.4.5 Amendments

Responses to any questions from prospective sources, or any amendments to the solicitation, shall be distributed to all parties known to have received the solicitation, and posted on the Marin Transit website. Should the amendment substantially change the terms of the solicitation, the period for receipt of offers shall be extended to allow offerors to revise their submittals accordingly.

## 6.4.6 Invitation for Bid (IFB)

Bids in excess of the small purchase limit are publicly solicited through a formal Invitation for Bids (IFB) and a firm fixed-price contract (lump sum or unit price) is awarded to the responsible bidder whose bid, conforming to all the material terms and conditions of the IFB is lowest in price.

Competitive sealed bidding is the preferred method of procurement for acquiring property, construction, and other services.

#### 6.4.7 When to use IFB

A sealed bid (IFB) should be used when the following circumstances are present:

- A complete, adequate, precise, and realistic specification or purchase description is available.
- Two or more responsible bidders are willing and able to compete effectively for the business.
- The procurement generally lends itself to a fixed price contract.
- The successful bidder can be selected on the basis of price and those price-related factors listed in the solicitation including, but not limited to, transportation costs, life cycle costs, and discounts expected to be taken. Apart from responsibility determinations contractor selection may not be determined on the basis of other factors whose costs cannot be measured at the time of award.
- Discussions with one or more bidders after bids have been submitted are expected to be unnecessary as award of the contract shall be made based on price and price-related factors alone. However, a pre-bid conference with prospective bidders before bids have been received can be useful.

## 6.4.8 IFB Procedures

The following procedures apply to sealed bid procurements:

- The invitation for bids is publicly advertised.
- Bids are solicited from an adequate number of known suppliers.
- The invitation for bids, including any specifications and pertinent attachments, describes the property or services sought in sufficient detail that a prospective bidder shall be able to submit a proper bid.
- Bidders are allowed sufficient time to prepare bids before the date of bid opening.
- All bids are publicly opened at the time and place prescribed in the invitation for bids.
- A firm fixed price contract is usually awarded in writing to the lowest responsive and responsible bidder, but a fixed price incentive contract or inclusion of an economic price adjustment provision can sometimes be appropriate. When specified in the bidding documents, factors such as transportation costs and life cycle costs affect the determination of the lowest bid; payment discounts are used to determine the low bid only when prior experience indicates that such discounts are typically taken.

 Any or all bids may be rejected if there is a sound, documented business reason.

## 6.4.9 Single Bid

In the event that a single responsive bid is received from a responsible bidder, Marin Transit may negotiate with the bidder to ensure that a fair and reasonable price is obtained. If the responsive bid from the lowest responsible bidder exceeds available funds, Marin Transit may negotiate with the apparent low bidder to obtain a contract price within available funds, provided that Marin Transit has established, in writing conditions and procedures for such negotiations prior to issuance of the IFB and summarized them therein. Marin Transit may not, as part of a negotiation process, modify or alter the scope and specification defined in the IFB in a manner that might have attracted additional bidders if incorporated in the solicitation.

## 6.4.10 Request for Proposal (RFP)

The competitive negotiation procurement process is conducted through a formal Request for Proposals (RFP). This method of procurement is generally used when the nature of the procurement does not lend itself to sealed bidding and Marin Transit expects more than one source shall be willing and able to submit an offer or proposal.

## 6.4.11 When to use RFP

The competitive negotiation method (RFP) of procurement is appropriate when the following conditions exist:

- A complete, adequate, and realistic specification or purchase description is not available.
- The selection of the successful offeror requires consideration of factors other than price.
- Discussions with offerors are anticipated to be needed.

## 6.4.11.1 Contract Type for RFP

Either a fixed price or cost reimbursable type contract may be awarded under this process.

## 6.4.11.2 Evaluation Factors

Each RFP must include a description of the factors other than price by which proposals shall be evaluated. Evaluation factors and sub factors shall be listed in order of their relative importance. Evaluation factors may include, but are not limited to, technical design, technical approach, length of delivery schedules, quality of proposed personnel, past performance, and management plan.

## 6.4.13 Revised Proposals

The most common tool used by procurement officials in competitive negotiations is a request for a revised proposal. Typically, the deficiencies of a proposal are listed and explained. A complete revised proposal, including price (except under the Brooks Act) is requested from each offeror in the competitive range. Unless explicitly stated otherwise, the revised offer extinguishes the prior offer. The proposer should identify all changes in the revised offer. The submission of the revised offers can trigger another round of evaluations, determination of a new competitive range, and discussions. This cycle may be repeated as many times as necessary to obtain the most advantageous offers.

## 6.4.14 Best and Final Offer

A best and final offer (BAFO) may be requested of each offeror in the competitive range at the conclusion of discussions (negotiations) with those offerors. A "best and final offer" is requested from those offerors in the competitive range. If the other offers have no viable chance of being made competitive by this time, a BAFO may be requested from only one proposer; recognizing that there is little competitive pressure under those circumstances. If any offeror does not respond to this request, their most recent offer shall be considered the best and final offer.

## 6.4.15 Special Procurement Considerations

## 6.4.15.1 Two-Step Procurement Procedures

This is a procurement method involving the submittal of unpriced technical proposals in the first step, and a price submittal in the second step. This method can be used in both sealed bid and competitively negotiated procurements.

The first step is a review of the prospective contractors' technical approach to Marin Transit's request and technical qualifications to carry out that approach. Marin Transit may then narrow the competitive range to prospective contractors that demonstrate a technically satisfactory approach and have satisfactory qualifications.

The second step consists of soliciting and reviewing complete bids (sometimes referred to as —two-step sealed bidding) or proposals

(as in —competitive negotiations), including price, submitted by each prospective contractor determined to be qualified. Absent exceptional circumstances, Marin Transit should attempt to solicit bids or proposals from at least three qualified prospective contractors. Unlike qualifications-based procurement procedures required for A&E services, Marin Transit shall consider all bid or proposal prices submitted as well as other technical factors, rather than limiting reviews to the most qualified bidder or offeror.

## <u>6.4.15.2</u> Architectural and Engineering (A&E) and Other Professional Services

Marin Transit shall use qualification-based competitive proposal procedures based on the Brooks Act, of the United States Code.

Qualifications-based procurement procedures must be used not only when contracting for A&E services, but also for other services listed in 49 U.S.C. § 5325(b)(1) that are directly in support of, directly connected to, directly related to, or lead to construction, alteration, or repair of real property. For example, a contractor performing program management, project design, construction management, or engineering services in which that contractor would select the finished products to be acquired for an FTA assisted construction project must be selected through qualifications-based procurement procedures.

Marin Transit is prohibited by FTA from using qualifications-based procurement procedures to acquire other types of services if those services are not directly in support of, directly connected to, directly related to, or do not lead to construction, alteration, or repair of real property. Even if a contractor has performed services listed herein in support of a construction, alteration, or repair project involving real property, selection of that contractor to perform similar services not relating to construction may not be made through the use of qualifications-based procurement procedures.

A project involving construction does not always require that qualifications-based procurement procedures be used. Whether or not qualifications-based procurement procedures may be used depends on the actual services to be performed in connection with the construction project. For example, the design or fabrication of message signs, signals, movable barriers, and similar property that shall become off-the-shelf items or shall be fabricated and delivered as final end products for installation in an FTA assisted construction project are not services for which qualifications-based procurement procedures may be used. Nor are actual construction, alteration, or repair to real property the type of services for which qualifications-based procurement procedures may be used. The following procedures apply to qualifications-based procurements:

- An offeror's technical qualifications are evaluated to determine contract award.
- Price is excluded as an evaluation factor.
- Negotiations are first conducted with only the most qualified offeror.
- Only after failing to agree on a fair and reasonable price may negotiations be conducted with the next most qualified offeror. Then, if necessary, negotiations with successive offerors in descending order may be conducted until contract award can be made to the offeror whose price Marin Transit believes to be fair and reasonable.

When no Federal funds are involved in funding a procurement for professional services, Marin Transit shall comply with the requirements of California Government Code §4525, which defines a process similar to the Brooks Act to be used for all professional service procurements.

## 6.4.15.3 Design Build

The design-build procurement method consists of contracting for design and construction simultaneously with contract award to a single contractor, consortium, joint venture, team, or partnership that shall be responsible for both the project design and construction. Information on selecting the appropriate procurement method and selection process can be found in FTA Circular 4220.1F pages VI-14-VI-16.

Design build projects must also comply with any State of California Requirements.

## 6.4.16 Sole Source

Non-competitive (sole source) procurements are accomplished through solicitation and acceptance of a proposal from only one source. A contract amendment or change order that is not within the scope of the original contract is considered a sole source procurement that must comply with this section. Guidance as to what is "outside the scope" of a contract may be found in section 1.2 of this document.

## 6.4.16.1 Justification for Sole Source

Sole source procurement may be used when only one source is practicably available, and the award of a contract is infeasible under competitive small purchase procedures, sealed bids, or proposals and at least one of the following circumstances applies: The item is available only from one responsible source because:

- It involves a unique or innovative concept or capability not available from another source. Unique or innovative concept means a new, novel, or changed concept, approach, or method that is the product of original thinking, the details of which are kept confidential or are patented or copyrighted and is available to Marin Transit only from one source and has not in the past been available to Marin Transit from another source.
- Patents or Restricted Data Rights. Patent or data rights restrictions preclude competition.
- Substantial Duplication Costs. In the case of a follow-on contract for the continued development or production of highly specialized equipment and major components thereof, when it is likely that award to another contractor would result in substantial duplication of costs that are not expected to be recovered through competition.
- Unacceptable Delay. In the case of a follow-on contract for the continued development or production of highly specialized equipment or major component thereof, award to another contractor would result in unacceptable delays in fulfilling Marin Transit's needs.
- A single bid or proposal was received in response to a solicitation and competition was determined to be inadequate.
  - <u>Adequate Competition</u>. Competition is adequate when the reasons for few responses were caused by conditions beyond Marin Transit's control. Many unrelated factors beyond the District's control might cause potential sources not to submit a bid or proposal. If the competition can be determined adequate, the competition requirements shall be fulfilled, and the procurement shall qualify as a valid competitive award.
  - Inadequate Competition. Competition is inadequate when, caused by conditions within the District's control. For example, if the specifications used were unduly restrictive.
- An unusual and urgent need for the property or services exists such that Marin Transit would be seriously injured unless it were permitted to limit the solicitation. Marin Transit may also limit the solicitation when an urgent public need or emergency shall not permit a delay resulting from competitive solicitation for the property or services.

- FTA authorizes noncompetitive negotiations (e.g., in the original grant application and approval process).
- Substantial Duplication Costs. In the case of a follow-on contract for the continued development or production of highly specialized equipment and major components thereof, when it is likely that award to another contractor would result in substantial duplication of costs that are not expected to be recovered through competition.

Sole source is not justified based on a failure to plan.

## 6.4.16.2 Documentation

When less than full and open competition is available the following procedures apply:

- A written sole source justification must be prepared justifying the decision based on the criteria in section 6.4.16 above.
- A cost analysis must be prepared or obtained verifying the proposed cost data, the projections of the data, and the evaluation of the costs and profits.

## 6.4.17 Options

An option is a unilateral right in a contract by which, for a specified time, Marin Transit may elect to purchase additional or alternative equipment, supplies, or services called for by the solicitation and/or contract, or may elect to extend the term of the contract. The use of options must be limited to quantities of goods or services that are reasonably anticipated to be required by Marin Transit during the term of the contract; options may not be included solely with the intent of assigning them to another entity in the future; however, contracts may include a provision allowing assignment to other agencies in the event of a change in Marin Transit's anticipated requirements, in accordance with FTA regulations and guidance.

The option quantities or periods must be defined in the solicitation; contained in the offer upon which a contract is awarded; and evaluated as part of the initial award process; i.e., the options must be evaluated in combination with prices for the base quantity to determine the low bidder. When an option has not been evaluated to determine the low bidder for award of the contract, exercise of the option shall be considered a sole source procurement and must be justified as such.

The exercise of an option must be in accordance with the terms and conditions of the option as stated in the initial contract, and an option may not be exercised unless it is determined that the option price is better than prices available in the market or that the option is the more advantageous offer at the time the option is exercised, cost and other factors considered.

If sequential options (e.g., a series of one-year extensions) exist, the failure to timely and properly exercise any option shall void all subsequent options.

Marin Transit may exercise options in contracts of other public agencies ("piggybacking") in accordance with FTA regulations and guidance. This process requires the following:

- A documented verification that the contract containing the option was procured in accordance with all FTA requirements, including obtaining copies of the relevant documents from the procuring agency.
- A separate contract or purchase order should be entered into between the vendor and Marin Transit.
- Where purchases are made from State or local purchasing schedules or contracts which do not include all FTA requirements, the necessary contract terms, representations and certifications may be added by agreement of the parties. However, the contract may not be modified to substantively change the product or services being acquired.

## 6.4.18 Electronic Commerce

Marin Transit may employ electronic commerce to conduct procurements; specifically electronic bidding or reverse auctions. In advance of using this procurement method written procedures must be established in compliance with FTA Circular 4220.1F, Chapter III, §3. f.

6.5 Contracting with small and minority businesses, women's business enterprises, and labor surplus area firms.

(a) Marin Transit must take all necessary affirmative steps to assure that minority businesses, women's business enterprises, and labor surplus area firms are used when possible.

(b) Affirmative steps must include:

(1) Placing qualified small and minority businesses and women's business enterprises on solicitation lists;

(2) Assuring that small and minority businesses, and women's business enterprises are solicited whenever they are potential sources;

(3) Dividing total requirements, when economically feasible, into smaller tasks or quantities to permit maximum participation by small and minority businesses, and women's business enterprises;

(4) Establishing delivery schedules, where the requirement permits, which encourage participation by small and minority businesses, and women's business enterprises;

(5) Using the services and assistance, as appropriate, of such organizations as the Small Business Administration and the Minority Business Development Agency of the Department of Commerce; and

(6) Requiring the prime contractor, if subcontracts are to be let, to take the affirmative steps listed in paragraphs (1) through (5) of this section.

## 7 CONTRACT COST AND PRICE ANALYSIS

#### 7.1 Requirement

A cost or price analysis must be performed for every FTA-funded procurement action, including change orders in excess of the Simplified Acquisition Threshold of \$150,000. The method and degree of analysis is dependent on the facts surrounding the particular procurement situation. FTA's "Pricing Guide for Grantees" provides guidance in performing the appropriate degree of cost or price analysis.

#### 7.2 Independent Cost Estimate

Any cost or price analysis must be based on an independent cost estimate, which should be developed before a solicitation is issued, but in no event after the receipt of bids or proposals. For change orders, the independent estimate must be prepared without knowledge of the contractor's proposed pricing.

#### 7.3 Cost Analysis

A cost analysis must be performed when the offeror is required to submit the elements (i.e., labor hours, overhead, materials, etc.) of the estimated cost. A cost analysis is not required when the pricing reflects a catalog or market price of a commercial product sold in substantial quantities to the general public or is based on prices set by law or regulation.

A cost analysis shall be necessary when adequate price competition is lacking, including sole source procurements (including change orders), unless

price reasonableness can be established on the basis of a catalog or market price of a commercial product sold in substantial quantities to the general public or on the basis of prices set by law or regulation. Where change orders involve items for which unit prices are included in the contract, a cost analysis is not required.

Profit is to be negotiated as a separate element of the price for each contract in which there is no price competition and in all cases where cost analysis is performed. To establish a fair and reasonable profit, consideration should be given to the complexity of the work to be performed, the risk borne by the contractor, the contractor's investment, the amount of subcontracting, and industry profit rates in the surrounding geographical area for similar work.

Costs or prices based on estimated costs for contracts shall be allowable only to the extent that costs incurred, or cost estimates included in negotiated prices are consistent with Federal cost principles allowable under Subpart E-Cost Principles of Part 200—Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements For Federal Awards <u>Price Analysis</u>

A price analysis looks at the price as a whole without examination of its various components.

Several techniques may be used in performing a price analysis:

- Comparing prices to those obtained for previous procurements.
- Comparing prices to those obtained by other agencies for like items.
- Comparing the range of prices received for the procurement involved, a price more than 10 percent higher or lower than the other prices received may raise questions as to whether the bidder interpreted the bid requirements differently than did the other bidders and may render the bid price unreasonable.
- Requiring each bidder to certify that the prices offered are no higher than those charged other customers for items of similar quality and quantity.

A price analysis may be used in all instances where a cost analysis is not required to determine the reasonableness of the proposed contract price.

Adequate price competition may be determined to exist when the perception of competition exists, even if only one bid or proposal is received; conversely, the receipt of multiple bids or proposals with widely differing prices may not constitute adequate price competition.

## 8 CONTRACT PROVISIONS

## 8.1 Federal Contract Provisions

To the greatest extent possible, Marin Transit shall employ appropriate standard contract provisions for each type of procurement. Contract provisions are usually contained in a set of General Conditions, which are standard for all procurements of that type, and in a set of Special Provisions, which are customized to either: add to, delete, or modify portions of the General Conditions. Each contract shall include all Federally-mandated provisions, in accordance with the matrix contained in FTA Procurement Circular 4220.1F ("Circular"), Appendix D, and in Appendix A to the FTA Best Practices Procurement Manual, ("BPPM").

## 8.2 Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE)

In accordance with Marin Transit's Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Policy, DBE firms shall have an opportunity to participate in awards of contracts and subcontracts. Solicitations shall state if there is a DBE goal for the project, and outreach shall be made to DBE firms and the DBE community.

#### 8.3 Liquidated Damages

Marin Transit may use liquidated damages when it reasonably expects to suffer damages through delayed contract completion or lack of contractor performance. The rate and measurement standards shall be calculated to reasonably reflect Marin Transit's costs should the standards not be met and shall be specified in the solicitation and contract. The assessment for damages is often established at a specific rate per day for each day beyond the contract's delivery date or performance period. A measurement other than a day or another period of time, however, shall be established if that measurement is appropriate. The procurement file should include a record of the calculation and rationale for the amount of damages established. Any liquidated damages recovered on a Federally-funded project must be credited to the project account involved unless FTA permits otherwise.

#### 8.4 Bonding Requirements

#### 8.4.1 Construction

Marin Transit shall require bid, performance, and payment bonds in compliance with requirements for construction-related procurements as defined in FTA Circular 4220.1F, Chapter IV, §2. h, if Federal funds are involved. FTA requires, for all construction contracts in excess of the Federal small purchase threshold (currently \$150,000), that the contractor provide a bid bond equal to 5 percent of the bid amount; a performance bond for 100 percent of the contract price; and a payment bond equal to 100 percent of the contract price. A payment bond is executed in connection with a contract to assure payment as required by law of all persons supplying labor and material in the execution of the work provided

for in the contract. On award, the security of an unsuccessful bidder shall be returned in a reasonable period of time, but in no event shall that security be held by the District beyond 60 days from the time the award is made.

#### 8.4.2 Non-Construction

For non-construction contracts, bonding requirements are discouraged except where applicable law or regulation provides for such bonding, or Marin Transit determines that such a requirement is necessary as part of the overall risk management plan for a project. In making this determination, consideration should be given to the additional project costs to be expected, and the potential effect of limiting the vendor pool.

#### 8.4.3 Alternate Method of Security

To the extent permitted by applicable law and regulation, Marin Transit may permit substitution of cash, a cashier's check made payable to the district, a certified check made payable to the district, or a bond executed by an admitted surety insurer made payable to the district.

No bond may be required unless the requirement is specifically identified in the solicitation document.

#### 8.5 Industry Contracts

Marin Transit shall take special care when using an industry developed contract or contract that is provided by a bidder or offeror. Not only may that contract lack the required Federal provisions, but its terms may also be unfavorable to Marin Transit. This policy does not prohibit the use of industry forms, specifications, or contract terms when their use would benefit the District and would accommodate Federal requirements.

#### 8.6 Levine Act

All solicitations shall include the following statement:

California Government Code § 84308, commonly referred to as the "Levine Act," precludes an officer of a local government agency from participating in the award of a contract if he or she receives any political contributions totaling more than \$250 in the 12 months preceding the pendency of the contract award, and for three months following the final decision, from the person or company awarded the contract.

#### 8.7 Non-Collusion Declaration

California PUC Section 7106 requires bidders on all public works contracts to declare under penalty of perjury that the bidder has not participated in various

collusive activities. This declaration is required for every bid on every public works contract. This declaration must also include a representation that the person executing the declaration on behalf of a corporation or other entity is fully empowered to execute the declaration.

#### 8.8 Payment Provisions

#### 8.8.1 Advance Payments

The use of FTA funds for payments in advance of the incurrence of costs by the contractor is generally prohibited, without prior written approval from FTA. FTA does permit advance payments from FTA funds for those purchases where advance payment is customary in the commercial marketplace such as utility services, rents and subscriptions. FTA approval of such advance payments is required when the amount exceeds \$100,000. Marin Transit should not make advance payments using other funds (including local match funds) except where (a) it is customary in the industry, or (b) there are sound business reasons (e.g. to enable a more cost-effective pricing structure) for doing so; in the latter case, the file shall be documented to fully justify the advance payment. In making this determination, consideration should be given to factors such as the additional cost of requiring a vendor to fund the purchase of costly equipment and materials for a custom-built piece of equipment, and the potential for restricting competition.

## 8.8.2 Progress Payments

Progress payments are to be made only for costs incurred and value received in the performance of the contract. "Value received" requires that Marin Transit must obtain title or other adequate security interest in the items paid for in the progress payment, through a bill of sale, or other documented security interest sufficient to establish ownership and exclude the items from any bankruptcy or other seizure of assets. In the case of studies or design contracts, this requirement may be satisfied by receipt and acceptance of a preliminary or final document. A contract involving progress payments must specify that all documents, designs, working papers and other materials for which a progress payment is made, complete or incomplete, become the property of Marin Transit. Progress payments for construction contracts may be made on a percentage of completion basis; this method may not be used for non-construction contracts.

## 9 RECEIPT AND EVALUATION OF BIDS AND PROPOSALS

#### 9.1 Sealed Bids

Sealed bids must be received prior to the exact time specified in the IFB. Late bids are not acceptable and shall be returned to the bidder unopened. The

envelope of each bid received shall be stamped with the date and time of receipt, to verify timeliness. Bids shall be publicly opened, and the bid prices read. Each bid should be recorded in writing, including the name of the bidder and the bid price.

#### 9.2 Competitive Proposals

Proposals must be received prior to the exact time specified in the RFP Proposals are not publicly opened. A list of proposals shall be made available, including the name of the proposer and the number of copies received.

#### 9.3 Responsiveness Review

Both bids and proposals are subject to requirements of responsiveness. Usually the requirement of responsiveness for a bid is more complex than for a proposal. This is because a bid is "locked in" at the time of receipt, and proposals are subject to discussions and negotiations. As a result, many items required with a sealed bid need not be submitted with a proposal. Responsiveness looks at the submittal as of the time it was received, and an offeror cannot later correct a deficiency. Any defect in an area of responsiveness requires the rejection of the bid or proposal. Consequently, only items essential to the award should be specified as matters of responsiveness. The submittal of product samples, for example, is usually better treated as a matter to responsibility. Generally, matters of responsiveness include timeliness of receipt, proper signatures for a commitment by the offeror to provide the items solicited, required DBE submittals, and, where required, bid bonds. Proper completion of the pricing form is a matter of responsiveness for sealed bids; any exception to the terms and conditions of an IFB renders a bid non-responsive.

#### 9.4 Responsibility Review

Contractors must be capable of successfully performing under the terms and conditions of the proposed contract. The responsibility review considers the following:

- Technical Capacity: The necessary organization, experience, accounting, and operational controls, and technical skills, or the ability to obtain them to perform the project successfully within the allocated time. This evaluation looks at the contractor's staffing, management systems, equipment, and ability to accurately track costs and submit proper invoices. Possession of any required licenses should also be verified.
- Financial Resources: The necessary capital to finance the contract performance. This evaluation looks at the contractor's financial statements, banking relationships and financial and credit history. Prior financial difficulties or even bankruptcies do not necessarily render a

contractor non-responsible but require a deeper look at its current financial situation.

- Past Performance: Any prior default or other failure to complete a contract should be investigated.
- Integrity and Ethics: Compliance with applicable laws and regulations, including affirmative action and DBE requirements, and other public policies. Any debarment or suspension at the Federal or State level should be investigated; Marin Transit shall not award a contract to a firm currently debarred or suspended by the Federal government or the State of California. The file for every procurement above the small purchase limit shall include documentation that the awardee is not listed on the U.S. General Services Administration's Excluded Parties List System or the State of California Department of Labor Standards Enforcement (DLSE) list of debarments found at <a href="http://www.epls.gov">http://www.epls.gov</a>.

## 9.5 Evaluations

## 9.5.1 General

When evaluating bids or proposals, all evaluation factors specified in the solicitation documents should be considered, and the bids or offers should only be evaluated based on the evaluation factors included in those solicitation documents. Evaluation factors may not be modified after bids or proposals have been submitted without re-opening the solicitation.

## 9.5.2 Options

In awarding the contract that shall include options, the following standards apply:

- Evaluation Required. In general, Marin Transit shall evaluate bids or offers for any option quantities or periods contained in a solicitation if it intends to exercise those options after the contract is awarded.
- Evaluation Not Required. Marin Transit need not evaluate bids or offers for any option quantities if it determines that evaluation would not be in its best interests. An example of a circumstance that may support this determination not to evaluate bids or offers for option quantities is when Marin Transit is reasonably certain that funds shall not be available to permit it to exercise the option.

## 9.5.3 Evaluators

In addition to evaluators with experience in technical or public policy matters related to the procurement, other evaluators may also include auditors and financial experts to the extent that Marin Transit determines would be necessary or helpful. Evaluation duties may be assigned to Marin Transit staff or to outside (including contracted) evaluators based on the proposal complexity and size.

## **<u>10</u> CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION**

#### 10.1 Contract Administration

Contract administration ensures that Marin Transit and its contractors comply with the terms, conditions, and specifications of their contracts and applicable Federal, State and local requirements.

#### 10.2 File Contents

For sealed bid procurements and competitive negotiations, the contract administration file should include the following:

- The executed contract and notice of award;
- Performance and payment bonds, bond-related documentation, and correspondence with any sureties;
- Contract-required insurance documentation;
- Post-award (pre-performance) correspondence from or to the contractor or other Governmental agencies;
- Notice to proceed;
- Approvals or disapprovals of contract submittals required by the contract and requests for waivers or deviations from contractual requirements;
- Modifications/changes to the contracts including the rationale for the change, change orders issued, and documentation reflecting any time and or increases to or decreases from the contract price as a result of those modifications;
- Documentation regarding settlement of claims and disputes including, as appropriate, results of audit and legal reviews of the claims and approval by the proper authority (i.e., city council, board of directors, executive director) of the settlement amount;
- Documentation regarding stop work and suspension of work orders and termination actions (convenience as well as default); and
- Documentation relating to contract close-out.

For small purchases and micro-purchases documentation may only need to consist of standard purchasing documents.

## 11 CHANGE ORDERS

## <u>11.1</u> Definition

A change order means an order authorized by Marin Transit directing the contractor to make changes, pursuant to contract provisions for such changes, with or without the consent of the contractor. There are two general types of change orders: (1) changes within the general scope of the contract; and (2) cardinal changes. A cardinal change means a major deviation from the original purpose of the work or the intended method of achievement, or a revision of contract work so extensive, significant, or cumulative that, in effect, the contractor is required to perform very different work from that described in the original contract. (An example of the difference would be a contract to build a garage: adding a window would be within the general scope of the contract, while adding a house would not.) A cardinal change can also be created by a series of incremental change orders that have the cumulative effect of changing the scope beyond the original intent of the parties. See section 3.6.4 for changes which are impermissible under Federal contracting requirements.

## 11.2 Submittal

Change orders may be initiated by either Marin Transit or the contractor. In either case, the formal process begins with a request by Marin Transit for the contractor to submit a proposal identifying both the scope and cost of the proposed change. The request should be detailed enough for the contractor to submit a firm fixed price, or hourly rates on a not-to-exceed basis, if the original contract was on a reimbursable-cost basis. If the proposed change shall affect the contract's insurance requirements, the change should be addressed in the request for a change proposal. Occasionally in construction, the precise scope of the work cannot be reasonably determined until the work is undertaken; in those cases, the change order may be issued on the basis of payment for time and materials, including a markup for overhead and profit. This pricing formula, however, should be used only when absolutely necessary, and the scope should only extend to the point where a firm price can be established.

## 11.3 Evaluation

The contractor's proposal should be reviewed and approved using the same evaluation process as was used in determining contractor responsiveness and responsibility in the original contract award. Responsiveness would address primarily whether the changed proposal adequately addresses the requested scope; responsibility issues would include price reasonableness (a cost or price analysis is required for every contract action, including change orders), schedule impacts; impact on the DBE goal, and the qualifications of the personnel or subcontractors proposed to perform the work. If the change is outside the scope of the contract, it is considered a sole source procurement, and must be justified as such. Marin Transit must investigate whether other sources for the changed work are reasonably available and document the file accordingly. The same process should be followed for inscope changes if the contractor's price cannot be determined to be fair and reasonable. Change orders are subject to negotiation.

#### <u>11.4</u> Documentation

A separate file for change orders containing the documentation described above must be maintained as part of the procurement record.

## 12 CONTRACT CLOSEOUT

Prior to authorizing final payment on a project, it should be established that the work under the contract has been completed and the contract is ready for closeout. A contract is complete only after all deliverable items and services called for under the contract have been delivered and accepted by Marin Transit. These deliverable items include such things as reports, spare parts, warranty documents, and proof of insurance (where required by the contract terms).

	TYPE OF PROCUREMENT				
CLAUSE	Professional Services/A&E	Operations/ Management/ Subrecipients	Rolling Stock Purchase	Construction	Materials & Supplies
No Federal government obligations to third parties by use of a disclaimer	All	All	All	All	All
Program fraud and false or fraudulent statements and related acts	All	All	All	All	All
Access to Records	All	All	All	All	All
Federal changes	All	All	All	All	All
Civil Rights (EEO, Title VI & ADA)	All	All	All	All	All
Incorporation of FTA Terms	All	All	All	All	All
Energy Conservation	All	All	All	All	All
Notification to FTA	All	All	All	All	All
Termination Provisions (not required of states)	>\$10,000	>\$10,000	>\$10,000	>\$10,000	>\$10,000
Debarment and Suspension	>\$25,000	>\$25,000	>\$25,000	>\$25,000	>\$25,000
Buy America			>\$150,000	>\$150,000	>\$150,000 (for steel, iron, manufactured products)
Provisions for resolution of disputes, breaches, or other litigation	>\$150,000 (see Note)	>\$150,000 (see Note)	>\$150,000 (see Note)	>\$150,000 (see Note)	>\$150,000 (see Note)
Lobbying	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000
Clean Air	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000
Clean Water	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000
Cargo Preference			Involving property that may be transported by ocean vessel	Involving property that may be transported by ocean vessel	Involving property that may be transported by ocean vessel

#### APPLICABILITY OF THIRD-PARTY CONTRACT CLAUSES (excluding micro-purchases, except for construction contracts over \$2,000)

#### APPLICABILITY OF THIRD-PARTY CONTRACT CLAUSES (excluding micro-purchases, except for construction contracts over \$2,000)

	TYPE OF PROCUREMENT				
CLAUSE	Professional Services/A&E	Operations/ Management/ Subrecipients	Rolling Stock Purchase	Construction	Materials & Supplies
Fly America	Involving foreign transport or travel by air	Involving foreign transport or travel by air	Involving foreign transport or travel by air	Involving foreign transport or travel by air	Involving foreign transport or travel by air
Davis Bacon Act				>\$2,000 (including ferry vessels)	
Copeland Anti-Kickback Act Section 1 Section 2				All >\$2,000 (including ferry vessels)	
Contract Work Hours & Safety Standards Act		>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000 (including ferry vessels)	
Bonding (not required of states)				>\$100,000 (including ferry vessels)	
Seismic Safety	A&E for new buildings &additions			New buildings &additions	
Transit Employee Protective Arrangements		Transit operations funded with Section 5307, 5309, 5311 or 5316 funds			
Charter Service Operations		All			
School Bus Operations		All			
Drug and Alcohol Testing		Transit operations funded with Section 5307, 5309 or 5311 funds			
Patent Rights	Research &development				

#### APPLICABILITY OF THIRD-PARTY CONTRACT CLAUSES (excluding micro-purchases, except for construction contracts over \$2,000)

	TYPE OF PROCUREMENT				
CLAUSE	Professional Services/A&E	Operations/ Management/ Subrecipients	Rolling Stock Purchase	Construction	Materials & Supplies
Rights in Data and Copyrights requirements	Research & development				
Special DOL EEO clause for construction projects				>\$10,000	
Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (DBEs)	All	All	All	All	All
Prompt Payment	All if threshold for DBE program met	All if threshold for DBE program met	All if threshold for DBE program met	All if threshold for DBE program met	All if threshold for DBE program met
Recycled Products		Contracts for items designated by EPA, when procuring \$10,000 or more per year		Contracts for items designated by EPA, when procuring \$10,000 or more per year	Contracts for items designated by EPA, when procuring \$10,000 or more per year
ADA Access	A&E	All	All	All	
Special Notification Requirements for States	Limited to states	Limited to states	Limited to states	Limited to states	Limited to states

## APPENDIX B – FEDERAL CERTIFICATIONS REPORTS AND FORMS

CERTIFICATIONS, REPORTS, AND FORMS	COMMENTS		
Bus Testing Certification	All procurements of new model trans buses and vans and existing models bein modified with major changeover changes.		
TVM Certification	All rolling stock procurements.		
Buy America Certification	Procurements of steel, iron or manufactured products exceeding \$100,000.		
Pre-award Review	FTA Annual Certification for any rolling stock procurement.		
Pre-award Buy America Certification	Rolling stock procurements exceeding \$100,000.		
Pre-award Purchaser's Requirement	All rolling stock procurements.		
Post Delivery Review	FTA Annual Certification for any rolling stock procurement.		
Post Delivery Buy America Certification	Rolling stock procurements exceeding \$100,000.		
Post Delivery Purchaser's Requirement	All rolling stock procurements to the extent required by Federal law and regulations.		
On-Site Inspector's Report	<ul> <li>Rolling stock except for procurements of: <ul> <li>10 or fewer vehicles</li> <li>20 or fewer vehicles serving rural areas or small urbanized areas</li> <li>Any amount of primary manufactured standard production and unmodified vans that after visual inspection road testing meet the contract specifications</li> </ul></li></ul>		
Federal Motor Vehicles Safety Standards	Motor vehicle procurements		
Pre-award Review and Post Delivery			
Lobbying	Procurements exceeding \$100,000		
Standard Form LLL and Quarterly Updates (when required)	Procurements exceeding \$100,000 where contractor engages in lobbying activities.		